RECEIVED

Jul 31 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2019-002052
[Lower Court Case No. 2016-CP-10-01143]

Palmetto Construction Group, LLC Respondent

v.

Restoration Specialists, LLC, Petitioners
Reuben Mark Ward, and
Lynnette Pennington Ward

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Bright Ariail
SC License #69570
Law Office of A. Bright Ariail, LLC
125E Wappoo Creek Drive, Suite 202
Charleston, SC 29412
843/814-8805
Attorney for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE MASTER’S ORDERS REFUSING TO COMPEL ARBITRATION ARE INTERLOCUTORY AND NOT APPEALABLE?

- II. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE PETITIONERS WAIVED THEIR RIGHT TO ARBITRATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a construction project in Augusta, Georgia (the “Project”). (A. p. 0183, lines 1-3). The Respondent and Petitioner Restoration Specialists, LLC (“Petitioner Restoration”) entered into a Subcontract Agreement in connection with the Project. (A. pp. 0183, 0187-0201). Respondent filed this lawsuit on March 7, 2016, alleging a breach of the Subcontract Agreement and additional claims relating to the Project against the Petitioners, Reuben Mark Ward and Lynnette Pennington Ward (“Ward Petitioners”). (A. pp. 0181-0211). Simultaneously with filing the lawsuit, Respondent filed a Motion to Stay and to Compel on March 7, 2016. (A. pp. 0212-0230). The basis of Respondent’s Motion to Stay and to Compel was that the Subcontract Agreement contained mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions requiring the Court to stay the litigation and the parties to mediate in Georgia or other agreed upon location and, if necessary, arbitrate all claims contained in Respondent’s lawsuit. (*Id.*)

Respondent simultaneously served all Petitioners with both the Complaint and

Motion to Stay and to Compel on March 14, 2016. (A. pp. 0236-0241).

Respondent filed a Motion to Refer to the Master in Equity and for Entry of Default on April 18, 2016. (A. pp. 0231-0235). The Circuit Court entered default against the Petitioners on April 21, 2016. (A. p. 0173).

On the evening of June 2, 2016, the Petitioners were served with a Notice of Hearing scheduling the default damages hearing for June 6, 2016. (A. pp. 0242, 0649). The Petitioners were unaware of the default status of the case and the scheduling of the damages hearing until they received this hearing Notice on June 2, 2016. (A. pp. 0244-0245). Upon receipt of this Notice of Hearing, the Petitioners immediately retained legal counsel on June 3, 2016. (A. pp. 0244-0245, 0249, lines 13-14). Petitioners' counsel immediately filed a Motion for Continuance of the damages hearing and a Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default on June 3, 2016, citing the mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions and Respondent's Motion to Stay and Compel mediation/arbitration as one of their grounds for relief. (A. pp. 0247-0257).

At the hearing on June 6, 2016, the Master in Equity ("Master") granted Petitioners' Motion for Continuance of the damages hearing and held the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default in abeyance. (A. p. 0639, Tr. p. 11, line 18 – p. 12, line 4). The Master then directed the Petitioners to provide financial information relative to the Project to see what could be resolved between the parties and scheduled the matter to reconvene for a status conference on July 14, 2016. (A. p. 0639, Tr. p. 12, lines 6-23). Per the Master's direction, the Petitioners provided certain relevant documents and basic written discovery responses to Respondent.

On July 11, 2016, the Petitioners filed a formal Motion to Stay and to Compel on

the basis of the mandatory contractual mediation/arbitration provisions. (A. p. 0258 – 0263). In addition, the Petitioners joined in and consented to Respondent’s Motion to Stay and to Compel, rendering that motion a joint Motion to Stay and to Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration (“Joint Motion”). (*Id.*). As such, Petitioners’ singular and joint Motions to Stay and Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration were pending before the Master at this time.¹

The parties reconvened before the Master on July 14, 2016. (A. pp. 0533 - 0536). The Petitioners also filed a Memorandum in Support of their Motion to Lift Entry of Default on July 14, 2016, which included Petitioners’ continued assertion of their right to arbitration. (A. pp. 0264 – 0294). During the reconvened hearing the Master stated that the Clerk of Court “closed out” the Respondent’s Motion to Stay and Compel. (A. p. 0640, Tr. p. 9, lines 5-8). The Clerk’s closure of the motion occurred despite Petitioner’s joinder in the motion. The Master issued a bench ruling finding that the Clerk’s action constituted an adjudication of this motion. (A. p. 0640, Tr. p. 9, lines 5-9). The Master further ruled from the bench finding Petitioners in default, denying Petitioners’ Motion to Lift Entry of Default and scheduling a default damages hearing for October 4, 2016. (A. p. 0640, Tr. p. 9, lines 12-17 and Tr. p. 12, lines 7-8).

Upon completion of the reconvened hearing, the Master issued a formal order dated July 14, 2016. (A. p. 0174). The Master’s formal order: (a): Denied Petitioners’ Motion to Lift Entry of Default for lack of good cause; (b): Denied Petitioners’ Motion to Stay and Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration on the basis of default; and (c): Set a damages hearing for October 4, 2016. (*Id.*). Petitioners received written notice of entry of these

¹ While Respondent asserts that it “set aside” or “withdrew” its Motion to Stay and Compel, the record is devoid of evidence substantiating Respondent’s assertion.

orders on July 18, 2016. (A. pp. 0650 – 0655).

The Petitioners filed a timely Motion to Reconsider and to Alter and Amend the Master's July 14, 2016 order pursuant to SCRCF 59(e) and applicable case law on July 27, 2016. (A. pp. 0295 – 0299). The Master scheduled the hearing on Petitioners' Rule 59(e) motion to be held on October 11, 2016, seven days after the scheduled damages hearing on October 4, 2016. (A. pp. 0656 – 0657).

On September 7, 2016 standing on their rights to mandatory mediation/arbitration, the Petitioners requested in writing that the Master schedule the hearing on Petitioners' Rule 59(e) motion prior to the October 4, 2016 damages hearing. (A. p. 0658).

On September 7, 2016, the Master replied to Petitioners' request and made the decision to "flip" the hearing dates, with the motions hearing to be held on October 4, 2016 and, if necessary, the damages hearing to be held on October 11, 2016. (A. p. 0661). The Master asked the parties to advise if this plan was acceptable. (*Id.*). The Petitioners informed the Master that this plan was acceptable. (*Id.*). The Respondent notified the Master that it would defer to the Master, but preferred the damages hearing to proceed on October 4, 2016 and the motions hearing to be held thereafter on October 11, 2016. (A. p. 0662).

After further consideration, the Master then decided not to switch the hearing dates and informed the parties that the damages hearing would proceed on October 4, 2016 and the Rule 59(e) motions hearing would be held on October 11, 2016. (A. p. 0663). The Petitioners received written notice of the Master's decision via email on September 12, 2016. (*Id.*).

The Master's decision to proceed with the damages hearing and not hear the

Petitioners' Rule 59(e) motion prior thereto effectively denied this motion as proceeding with the damages hearing under these circumstances would severely prejudice, and potentially force a waiver of Petitioners' rights to arbitration and foreclose any appeal therefrom. Therefore, subject to, without waiving and fully asserting and reserving their rights to arbitration, the Petitioners commenced an appeal in this matter on September 30, 2016. (A. pp. 0669 – 0673).

Thereafter, the Master notified all parties that he intended to go forward with the hearing set for October 4, 2016. (A. pp. 0666 – 0668). During that hearing, the Master did not proceed with the damages hearing nor issue a ruling on the Rule 59(e) motion, stating instead, that he wished to establish a record for appellate court review of this matter. (A. p. 0643, Tr. p. 9, lines 14-19). Accordingly, the Master accepted Petitioners' Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend, discussed the procedural posture of the case, allowed the parties to proffer information related to Petitioners' Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend and allowed Respondent to proffer information related to damages alleged, to which Petitioners' vehemently objected. (A. pp. 0641 – 0648, Tr. pp. 1-32). Further, pursuant to the Master's request, the parties thereafter submitted additional legal memoranda to the Court for consideration regarding Petitioners' Rule 59(e) motion. (A. pp. 0307 – 0500).

On October 27, 2016, the Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (A. pp. 0501 – 0540). Thereafter, on November 10, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued an order stating that based on the Master's actions at the October 4, 2016 hearing, it appeared the Master intended to issue a final written order on the Rule 59(e) motion. (A. p. 0177). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioners' initial appeal without prejudice

ruling that the Petitioners could appeal after the Master's issuance of a final, written order on the Rule 59(e) motion. (*Id.*).

On October 28, 2016, the Master issued an order ruling on Petitioners' motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP. (A. pp. 0175 – 0176). The Master's Order: (a): Denied Defendants' Motion to Amend on the basis that Defendants did not show good cause to lift the default, and (b): Denied Defendants' Motion to Stay and Compel filed July 11, 2016 on the basis that the affirmative defense of arbitration had been waived and therefore the motion was not properly made. (*Id.*). Petitioners received written notice of entry of this order on November 2, 2016. (A. pp. 0677 – 0678). (*Notice of Appeal*).

The Petitioners commenced the instant appeal on November 14, 2016, appealing the Orders of the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough dated July 14, 2016 and October 28, 2016. (*Id.*). The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued its opinion, dated June 26, 2019, dismissing the Petitioners' appeal finding that: (a) the Master's July 14, 2016 and October 28, 2016 orders are interlocutory and not appealable and (b): because Petitioners were in default, they waived their right to assert arbitration as a defense. (A. pp. 0004 – 0010).

On July 10, 2019, the Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing *En Banc* with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (A. pp. 0043 – 0060). The Respondent filed a Return to Petitioners' Petition for Rehearing ("Respondent's Return") on August 2, 2019. (A. pp. 0029 – 0041). The Petitioners filed a Reply to Respondent's Return on August 12, 2019. (A. pp. 0013 -0028).

By order and letter dated November 15, 2019, the South Carolina Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' Petition for Rehearing *En Banc*. (A. pp. 0011 – 0012).

On December 16, 2019, the Petitioners filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari seeking

review by the South Carolina Supreme Court of the South Carolina Court of Appeal's opinion, dated June 26, 2019. The Respondent served and filed a Return to Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari ("Respondent's Return") on January 13, 2020. The Petitioners replied to Respondent's Return on January 23, 2020.

The South Carolina Supreme Court granted Petitioners' Petition for Writ of Certiorari on June 16, 2020.

FACTS

This case arises out of a construction project in Augusta, Georgia. (A. p. 0183, lines 1-3). On March 29, 2012, the Petitioner, Restoration Specialists ("Petitioner Restoration") was awarded a contract to construct the Charlie Norwood VAMC Parking Garage in Augusta, Georgia. ("the Norwood Parking Garage Project" or the "Project"). (A. p. 0264). The Respondent entered into a Subcontract Agreement with Petitioner Restoration on September 10, 2014 in connection with the Project. (A. pp. 0187-0201, 0264).

The Subcontract Agreement contains mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions. Specifically, the Subcontract Agreement contains a provision (Section 6.1.1) requiring the submission of any claim arising out of or related to the agreement to mediation as a condition precedent to binding dispute resolution. (A. p. 0223). Additionally, Section 6.1.2 sets out specifically that the mediation shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of the agreement. (*Id.*).

Section 6.1.2 of the Subcontract Agreement provides that a request for mediation may be made concurrently with the filing of binding dispute resolution proceedings. (*Id.*).

Under Section 6.2, any claim subject to but not resolved by mediation shall be resolved by binding arbitration pursuant to Section 6.3 of the agreement. Further, Section 6.3.1 provides that the arbitration shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of the agreement. (*Id.*).

Section 6.3.4 of the Subcontract Agreement provides that either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided that the party sought be joined consents in writing to such joinder. (A. p. 0224).

Section 6.3.5 of the Subcontract Agreement provides that the agreement to arbitrate and any other written agreement to arbitrate with an additional person or persons referred to therein shall be specifically enforceable under applicable law in any court having jurisdiction hereof. (*Id.*).

Respondent's Complaint alleges that Petitioner Restoration has failed to pay the contract balance due under the Subcontract Agreement and asserts additional claims relating to the Project against the Petitioners, Reuben Mark Ward and Lynnette Pennington Ward ("Ward Petitioners"). (A. pp. 0182-0186).

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE MASTER'S ORDERS DENYING PETITIONERS' MOTION TO STAY AND TO COMPEL ARBITRATION ARE IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE AND THE RULING OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DISMISSING THE APPEAL AS INTERLOCUTORY CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The Petitioners have appealed the Master's Orders dated July 14, 2016 and October 28, 2016. The Master's July 14, 2016 Order ruled, in part, that "Defendants' motion to stay and to compel arbitration is denied as Defendant is in Default." The Master's October 28, 2016 Order ruled that "the affirmative defense of arbitration has been waived and Defendant's Motion to Stay and Compel filed July 11, 2016 was not properly made."

Both orders refuse to stay this action and deny Petitioners' application and rights to compel arbitration. Accordingly, the Master's orders raise appealable arbitration issues that are immediately appealable under both the federal and state arbitration acts.

Under the Federal Arbitration Act, an order that favors litigation over arbitration-- whether it refuses to stay the litigation in deference to arbitration or refuses to compel arbitration-- is immediately appealable, even if interlocutory in nature. *See* 9 U.S.C. §16(a)(1); *Stedor Enter., Ltd. v. Armtex, Inc.*, 947 F.2d 727 (4th Cir. 1991).

Under the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, an order denying an application to compel arbitration is immediately appealable. S.C. Code Ann. §15-448200(a)(1); *Cape Romain Contractors, Inc. v. Wando E, LLC*, 405 S.C. 115, 747 S.E.2d (2013); *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 524 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1999). Also, an order finding that a party waived its right to compel arbitration is immediately appealable. *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 521 S.E.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1999).

In addition to the precedent set forth above, the Master's orders refusing to compel arbitration are immediately appealable in that they deny the Petitioners the right to arbitration and, therefore, affect a substantial right of the Petitioners. S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(2); *Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 491 S.E.2d 240 (1997); *Widdicombe v. Tucker-Cales*, 366 S.C. 75, 620 S.E.2d 333 (Ct. App. 2005). Such orders must be appealed

immediately and cannot be challenged in an appeal from final judgment. *Id.* Consequently, the substantial right to resolve the parties' dispute by arbitration would be lost if the appeal was delayed until after final judgment. *Id.*; see also *Sims v. Ritter Constr., Inc.*, 62 N.C. App. 52, 302 S.E.2d 293 (1983).

The South Carolina Court of Appeals ("Court of Appeals"), citing *Thynes v. Lloyd*, 294 S.C. 152, 154, 363 S.E.2d 122, 123 (Ct. App. 1987) held that "the denial of a motion to set aside an entry of default is not appealable until after final judgment." (A. p. 0006).

Thereafter, the Court of Appeals states and rules as follows:

"Petitioners appeal from a motion to set aside an entry of default. Furthermore, the parties have not participated in a damages hearing and the master has not entered a default judgment against Petitioners. Accordingly, both the master's July 14, 2016 order and October 28, 2016 order are interlocutory and not immediately appealable."

(A. pp. 0006-0007)

The Court of Appeals then found that the master's denial of Petitioners' application to compel arbitration as well as his finding that Petitioners default status constituted a waiver of Petitioners right to arbitration did not constitute appealable issues before the court. (A. p. 0007-0008). Based on these findings, the Court of Appeals dismissed the entire appeal as interlocutory, including the appeal from the Master's refusal to compel arbitration. (A. p. 0010).

Ordinarily, an order denying a motion to lift entry of default is interlocutory and not immediately appealable. *Thynes*, 294 S.C. 152, 363 S.E.2d 122. An order that is not immediately appealable, however, can be considered under the court's appellate authority and should not prevent the review of another appealable issue before the court. *Cox v. Woodmen of World Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. 460, 556 S.E. 2d 397 (Ct. App. 2001). Stated

differently, where there is a single order that is appealable in part, the entire order should be considered upon the appeal. *See Rice Hope Plantation v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 216 S.C. 500, 559 S.E. 2d 132 (1950), overruled on other grounds; *McCall v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E. 2d 741 (1985).

In the present case, the Master's refusal to stay this action, his finding of a waiver of the right to arbitration by Petitioners and his denial of Petitioners' applications and rights to compel arbitration are all appealable issues that are squarely before this court. The Court of Appeals' own decision to review and issue a substantive finding on the question of waiver of arbitration after initially ruling that the master's orders were interlocutory, and not immediately appealable, bears witness to the appealability of the issues before this court.

The Master's orders concerning the arbitration rights of the Petitioners are immediately appealable and subject to mandatory *de novo* review on appeal. (*Id.*), *Carlson v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 743 S.E.2d 868 (Ct. App. 2013); *MailSource, LLC v. M. A. Bailey & Assoc*, 356 S.C. 370, 588 S.E.2d 639 (Ct. App. 2003). Furthermore, the Court of Appeals could and should have exercised its appellate authority in this instance to review the Master's denial of Petitioners' Motion to Lift Entry of Default. Such a review would have best served the interests of judicial economy and eliminated the inevitable additional appeals which will arise from a piecemeal appellate review of the Master's orders. *See Laffitte v. Bridgestone Corp.*, 381 S.C. 460, 674 S.E.2d 154 (2009); *Southern Bell Tel. and Tel. o. v. Hamm*, 306 S.C. 70, 409 S.E.2d 775 (1991); *Widdicombe v. Tucker-Cales*, 366 S.C. 75, 620 S.E.2d 333 (Ct. App. 2005); *Pruitt v. Bowers*, 330 S.C. 483, 499 S.E.2d 250 (Ct. App. 1998).

Instead, the Court of Appeals declined to conduct a full review of the Master's orders and improperly dismissed the entire appeal, including the appeal from the Master's refusal to compel arbitration, as interlocutory, and not appealable.² The Court of Appeals decision regarding appealability constitutes reversible error.

II. BECAUSE THE CONTRACT CONTAINS MANDATORY MEDIATION/ARBITRATION PROVISIONS AND THE PETITIONERS HAVE NOT DEFAULTED UPON NOR WAIVED THEIR RIGHTS TO MEDIATION/ARBITRATION, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO STAY THIS ACTION AND COMPEL MEDIATION/ARBITRATION.

(A): Appellate Standard of Review.

The denial of a motion to compel arbitration, based on a finding of waiver, is a legal conclusion subject to *de novo* review on appeal. *Carlson v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 743 S.E. 2d 868 (Ct. App. 2013); *MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Assoc.*, 356 S.C. 370, 374, 588 S.E. 2d 639, 641 (Ct. App. 2003).

(B): Public Policy Supports Contractual Arbitration Agreements.

The right to arbitration is a substantial right. The arbitration jurisprudence of South Carolina and the federal arbitration jurisprudence under the Federal Arbitration Act profoundly impacts myriad and wide-ranging contracts, projects and transactions in the State of South Carolina and across the country. These contracts, projects and transactions which involve the arbitration clauses and arbitration rights thereunder are engaged in by individuals, small businesses, large commercial corporations and ventures and government institutions located throughout the state and elsewhere. These contracts, projects and

² The Court of Appeals could and should have ruled upon the Master's order denying Appellants' Motion to Lift Entry of Default as there were other appealable issues before the court (i.e., the appealable issues of the Master's refusal to stay this action and the denial of Appellants' applications and rights to compel arbitration). *See Initial Brief of Appellants, Section 1.* However, the Court of Appeals declined to do so and improperly dismissed the entire appeal as interlocutory. *See Petitioners' Reply to Respondent's Return to Writ for Certiorari, Section 1.*

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