The State of South Carolina
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 21 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2019-002052
Case No. 2016-CP-10-1143

Palmetto Construction Group, LLC.....Respondent,

v.

Restoration Specialists, LLC, Reuben Mark Ward, and Lynnette Pennington Ward....Petitioners.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

EPTING & RANNIK, LLC

Andrew K. Epting, Jr.

Jaan G. Rannik

46A State Street, Charleston, SC 29401

Phone: 843-377-1871

Fax: 843-377-1310

ake@epting-law.com

jgr@epting-law.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Withdrawal of Arbitration Motion and Default

The basis of this lawsuit is that Petitioners Mark Ward and Restoration Specialists, LLC stole \$1.4m from a federal construction project for the Department of Veterans Affairs² on which Respondent, Palmetto Construction Group, and its principals were guarantors on the surety bond.³ Given the scope of the ensuing responsibility to the surety, Respondent’s only hope of survival was to win the race to get between Petitioners and the last funds that would be distributed by the Department of Veterans Affairs. Arbitration usually being an expedient means of resolution, Respondent initially sought to compel arbitration.

However, when—after being personally served—Petitioners failed to respond to the pleadings and went into default, zealous representation and the urgent necessity of expedient

² Not for the first time. Petitioners request this Court take judicial notice of Case No. 2017-CP-10-3816, filed in the Charleston County Circuit Court, a case similar to this one involving a separate project for the Department of Veterans Affairs. A confession of judgment was entered in April 2020 and has been defaulted upon.

³ PCG was forced into insolvency, and its principals honored their debt to the surety who paid when the funds went missing.

resolution required the withdrawal of the motion to compel arbitration, a motion for an entry of default, and referral of the case to the Master in Equity. Respondent had every right to change its position and pursue a default judgment after personal service was made and no response was received. Indeed, Respondent's counsel had an obligation to its client to do so.

II. Court of Appeals Properly Found It Lacked Jurisdiction

Petitioners appealed two orders of the trial court: one declining to lift the default, and one declaring as a nullity a motion to compel arbitration filed while in default. For the reasons that follow, neither order was immediately appealable, and the Court of Appeals did not err in dismissing the appeal.

A. No Default Judgment

An order denying a motion to be relieved from default is not appealable until after final judgment. *Thynes v. Lloyd*, 294 S.C. 152, 154, 363 S.E.2d 122, 123 (Ct. App. 1987). No damages hearing has occurred, because Petitioners noticed an appeal four days before the damages hearing was to take place, thus depriving the trial court of jurisdiction.⁴ As there was no damages hearing, there was no judgment, and no ability to appeal on the issue of the propriety of default.

B. Petitioners' Motion to Compel Arbitration Was a Nullity

Petitioners were in default when they filed a motion to compel arbitration. The actions available to a party in default are limited to moving to be relieved from default and, failing that,

⁴ Petitioners contend the Court of Appeals' order was contrary to the interests of judicial economy and would lead to "inevitable additional appeals." Petitioners' Brief at 16. However, had Petitioners simply waited a short time for the entry of a default judgment, the entire case would have been appealable. It was Petitioners' decision to appeal when they did that risks piecemeal appeals.

cross examining witnesses at a damages hearing. They do not include seeking affirmative relief. Petitioners' motion to compel arbitration was therefore a nullity and was properly denied as such.

The Court of Appeals found that, under South Carolina law, Petitioners waived any right to arbitrate. This was not a finding of the traditional "waiver" in the arbitration context, where a party is found to have waived arbitration due to its utilization of the machinery of litigation; rather, it was a finding that a party in default has, as a matter of law, lost the right to compel arbitration.

Because the motion was a nullity, *i.e.*, it did not exist, no appeal lies from a court order saying so.⁵

1. A Party in Default Cannot Seek Affirmative Relief

This Court has stated the following about parties in default:

It is well settled that by suffering a default, the defaulting party is deemed to have admitted the truth of the plaintiff's allegations⁶ and to have conceded liability.

Roche v. Young Bros., of Florence, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998) (citations omitted). Having conceded liability, a party in default has limited recourse before the courts:

Though a defaulting party may be entitled to notice of the damages hearing, that party is limited to cross-examining witnesses and objecting to evidence.

⁵ Petitioners contend that "an order finding that a party waived its right to compel arbitration is immediately appealable," citing *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 521 S.E.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1999). However, the undersigned could find no support for this proposition in the cited case (other than the proposition that a denial of a properly filed motion to compel arbitration is immediately appealable, whether or not it contains a finding of waiver), nor in any other reported case in this state.

⁶ See *infra*, Part II.B.2.

Id. at 81–82, 504 S.E.2d at 314. Further, a party’s “status as a defaulting party [is] not vitiated simply because it later chose to challenge the default judgment rendered against it.” *Id.* at 82, 504 S.E.2d at 315.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals did not err when it ruled:

Appellants’ default should not be excused because they chose to file a claim for arbitration to remove their default status. Therefore, the master correctly found Appellants’ motion to stay and compel arbitration was not proper due to Appellants’ default status.

Ct. App. Order at 4 (**App. p. 0008**).

When—after being personally served with the summons and complaint—Petitioners failed to answer, Petitioners were properly placed in default. Because they failed to show good cause for lifting the default,⁷ Petitioners’ remained in default at the time they sought to move to compel arbitration, and the motion is therefore a nullity.

2. A Defaulting Party Admits the Allegations of the Complaint

A defaulting party forfeits the right to answer the complaint and is deemed to have admitted the truth of the allegations against it, thus conceding liability. *Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 238, 242, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978) (“By defaulting, a defendant forfeits his right to answer or otherwise plead to the complaint. In essence, the defaulting defendant has conceded liability.” (internal quotation omitted)).

Among of the allegations in the complaint was that jurisdiction was vested in the trial court and that venue was proper there. *Complaint* at ¶ 6 (**App. p. 0183**). Admission of those allegations constitutes an “emphatic repudiation” of the right to compel arbitration. *See Bland v.*

⁷ Respondents note that Petitioners’ affidavit purportedly explaining their lack of a response to the pleading nowhere mentions a right to arbitrate or asserts arbitration as a basis for failing to file an answer. **App. p. 0245**.

Green Acres Grp., 12 So.3d 822, 824 (Fla. App. 2009) (“Assuming proper service and actual knowledge of the case, it is difficult to imagine a more emphatic repudiation of the right to arbitrate than an admission that a court is a proper forum to determine the claim.”).

3. Affirmative Defense

Arbitration is an affirmative defense that is waived if not raised. See *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 466, 381 S.E.2d 499, 502 (Ct. App. 1989) (quoting 5 Am. Jur. 2d *Arbitration & Award* § 51 at 556–57 for the proposition that “one’s right to arbitrate given by contract may be waived by failing to raise the right in an answer”); see also *Partain v. Upstate Auto Grp.*, 386 S.C. 488, 490, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010) (“Upstate Auto asserted three affirmative defenses in its Answer, including an arbitration agreement with Partain.”); *Howard v. S.C. Dept. of Highways*, 343 S.C. 149, 155, 538 S.E.2d 291, 294 (Ct. App. 2000) (“Affirmative defenses are waived if not pled.”).

By defaulting, Petitioners waived the right to file a pleading or to contest liability, and thus also waived the right to move the court to compel arbitration.

4. Prejudice

When an argument for waiver is based on utilization of the machinery of litigation, “[t]he party seeking to establish waiver has the burden of showing prejudice through an undue burden caused by a delay in the demand for arbitration.” *Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, 416 S.C. 508, 513, 788 S.E.2d 216, 218 (2016). Here, the finding of waiver was on a different basis, namely Petitioners’ default status. *Supra*, Part II.B.

Petitioners nonetheless argue that the record lacks a showing of prejudice that would justify a finding of waiver of the arbitration right. In South Carolina, a party cannot point to a lack of evidence when its own conduct is the reason for the absence of that evidence. See

Champion v. Whaley, 280 S.C. 116, 121–22, 311 S.E.2d 404, 407 (Ct. App. 1984) (“The defendant cannot take advantage of the uncertainty caused by his own wrongdoing.”).

Here, four days before the default damages hearing was to take place—a hearing at which PCG was to give testimony of what the damages it had and would continue to suffer—Petitioners served their first notice of appeal. This deprived the trial court of jurisdiction to conduct the hearing, and it prevented evidence being offered of the nature of the harm suffered by PCG and the prejudice that it would—and ultimately did⁸—suffer as a result of Petitioners’ actions and the delay in vindication of PCG’s claims. Petitioners cannot rely on an absence of that evidence to argue the absence of waiver.

III. Petitioners’ Remaining Arguments

Petitioners’ remaining arguments may be responded to by noting that, as the Court of Appeals found it had no jurisdiction, the majority of its holding is dicta. However, Respondents provide additional responses to certain of the arguments as follows.

A. Equitable Estoppel

Petitioners contend that “Respondent is equitably estopped from denying the applicability of the mandatory mediation/arbitration clause as to all Petitioners” because Respondent filed a motion to compel arbitration along with its complaint. For the reasons stated *supra*, Part I, this argument must fail.

B. Cedar Surgery

Petitioners rely heavily on a case out of Utah for the proposition that a defaulting party may nonetheless move to compel arbitration. This reliance is misplaced. The Court in *Cedar*

⁸ See *supra*, note 3.

Surgery v. Bonelli was reviewing an order *lifting* a default. *Cedar Surgery Ctr. v. Bonelli*, 96 P.3d 911, 913 (Utah 2004). That ruling, like the Master’s ruling in this case denying relief from default, would be reversible only if the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.*; *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 606, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009) (“The trial court’s decision [of whether to set aside an entry of default] will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse of that discretion.”). The *Cedar Surgery* court, like the Court of Appeals here, found no abuse of discretion given the particular circumstances of the case.⁹

C. The Individual Petitioners Cannot Compel Arbitration

Petitioners contend that, though Mark and Lynnette Ward are not parties to any contract containing an arbitration provision, the claims PCG makes against them are “intertwined” with the agreement that contains the arbitration provision — the subcontract between PCG and Restoration Specialists.

The District Court decision styled *U.S. ex rel. Coastal Roofing Co., Inc. v. P. Browne & Associates, Inc.*, 585 F. Supp. 2d 708 (D.S.C. 2007), articulated the intertwined claims test as follows:

Under the intertwined claims test, “the circuits have been willing to estop a signatory from avoiding arbitration with a nonsignatory when the issues the nonsignatory is seeking to resolve in arbitration are intertwined with the agreement that the estopped party has signed.”

Id. at 714 (citation omitted). The District Court further explained:

⁹ There, the first action taken by the Petitioner in that case was to move to compel arbitration, and so the court found that the reason for failing to answer was in reliance on and consistent with an arbitration right. *Cedar Surgery*, 96 P.3d at 915. This is not the case here, as evidenced by the affidavit of Mark Ward, which includes no mention of arbitration. **App. p. 0245.**

[E]stoppel is appropriate if “in substance [the signatory's underlying] complaint [is] based on the [nonsignatory's] alleged breach of the obligations and duties assigned to it in the agreement.”

Id. at 715 (citation omitted). The test is similar to that articulated by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 611 S.E.2d 305 (Ct. App. 2005), *aff'd*, 373 S.C. 168, 644 S.E.2d 718 (2007) to determine whether a tort claim is subject to arbitration:

The test is based on a determination whether the particular tort claim is so interwoven with the contract that it could not stand alone. If the tort and contract claims are so interwoven, both are arbitrable. On the other hand, if the tort claim is completely independent of the contract and could be maintained without reference to the contract, the tort claim is not arbitrable.

Id.

Under either test, PCG’s claims against Mark and Lynette Ward are not intertwined or interwoven with the claims under the subcontract between Restoration Specialists and PCG. PCG’s complaint alleges a breach of contract against Petitioner Restoration Specialists for its failure to pay PCG the funds due for the work PCG performed under a subcontract for concrete construction, a subcontract containing an arbitration provision. PCG also sued Petitioner Mark Ward for actual and constructive fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and equitable and injunctive relief regarding misappropriation of funds from a federal project, a misappropriation that resulted in over \$1.4 million in claims by subcontractors on the payment bond and a demand for indemnity from the surety pursuant to the indemnity agreement. A final claim was asserted against all Petitioners regarding their responsibilities to pay funds claimed by subcontractors against the surety bond.

The claims against the individual Petitioners are unrelated to whether PCG was paid under its subcontract for concrete work; PCG’s claim against Restoration Specialists for breach of this agreement is based on the fact that PCG has not been paid in full for their work. PCG’s claims

against Mark & Lynette Ward arise out of the bond and indemnity agreement with the surety, Hanover.

The subcontract and indemnity agreements are distinct from one another. For example, there is no requirement that PCG provide a payment bond for the project in the subcontract. There is no requirement that PCG provide indemnity to the surety in the subcontract. There is no requirement in PCG's subcontract with Restoration Specialists that Restoration Specialists pay its other subcontractors. The proof required for the claims against the Wards is thus different to that required for the breach of subcontract claim.

Only the latter is subject to arbitration. Petitioners are in error when they state it is "clear" that the claims against Restoration and against the Wards are intertwined. Petitioner's Brief at 22.

CONCLUSION

A party that unjustifiably fails to respond to a pleading in the courts of this State should not be permitted to circumvent that failure by belatedly moving to compel arbitration. This Court should hold that a party in default cannot move to compel arbitration and remand the case to the trial court for a default damages hearing.